

Urban Pond Management for Improved Stormwater Control and Biodiversity

Trade-offs, Practices, and Roles in Urban Contexts

Mohamed Ehab Zarifa

Independent project • 15 credits
Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU
Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences
Landscape Engineer Programme – Uppsala



Urban Pond Management for Improved Stormwater Control and Biodiversity – Trade-offs, Practices, and Roles in Urban Contexts

Förvaltning av stadsdammar för förbättrad dagvattenhantering och biologisk mångfald – Avvägningar, praxis och roller i urbana sammanhang

Mohamed Ehab Zarifa

Supervisor: Anna Lundvall, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences,

Department of Urban and Rural Development

Examiner: Vera Vicenzotti, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences,

Department of Urban and Rural Development

Credits: 15 credits

Level: First cycle, G2E

Course title: Independent project in Landscape Architecture

Course code: EX1004

Programme/education: Landscape Engineer Programme – Uppsala

Course coordinating dept: Department of Urban and Rural Development

Place of publication: Uppsala Year of publication: 2025

Copyright: All featured images are used with permission from the copyright

owner.

Online publication: https://stud.epsilon.slu.se

Keywords: Urban pond; Biodiversity; ecosystems services; Stormwater

management; Retention Pond; Urbanization.

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Division of Landscape Architecture

Abstract

The focus of the study is on pond management in urban areas for the better control of stormwater runoffs, as well as increasing biodiversity in urban areas. Although there is an increasing number of implementations of the concept of urban ponds, there is scant literature available on the management aspects of these structures once the pond is constructed. The question the study seeks to answer is: What roles and management practices support stormwater mitigation and biodiversity enhancement in urban ponds?

A qualitative method is used, with the study depending on secondary sources from the academic literature. The secondary data is systematically analyzed, with the six steps provided by Braun & Clarke followed in the process of determining the themes from the study. The themes emanating from the study are the role of urban ponds in the conservation of freshwater biodiversity, the management of stormwater runoff, as well as sustainability in the urban environment.

The themes that emerged from the analysis are three: (1) the ecological role of urban ponds in the support of freshwater biota, (2) the technical management practices necessary to maintain stormwater regulation, and (3) the social aspects of the maintenance process, which establish the nexus with policy support.

The importance of maintenance, the control of water quality, and the involvement of specialized equipment or personnel is made clear by the study results. Good management practices, including the prevention of pollution or the provision of habitat, are necessary for the achievement of stormwater management, as well as the protection of biodiversity.

Keywords: Urban pond, Biodiversity, ecosystems services, Stormwater management, Retention Pond, Urbanization.

Table of contents

1.Introduction	5
1.1Problem statement:	6
1.2Purpose of the Study	7
1.3Research questions	7
2.Methodology:	8
2.1Research design	ç
2.2Data collection	9
2.3Data Analysis	10
2.4Scope, Criteria, and Limitations	11
2.5Ethical Considerations	11
3.Literature Review	12
3.1Urban Pond Management	12
3.1.1 Historical Evolution and Management Approaches	13
3.1.2 Examples of Urban Pond Management Techniques	14
3.2Urban Ponds as Stormwater Management Infrastructure	14
3.3Urban Ponds as Vital Components of Biodiversity Conservation	15
3.4Impacts of Urbanization on Urban Pond Ecosystems	16
3.5Ecosystem Services of Urban Ponds: Trade-offs and Synergies	17
4.Results	19
4.1Management Effects on Water Quality and Ecosystem Health (RQ1)	19
4.2Effective Management Tools and Techniques for Urban Ponds (RQ2)	20
4.2.1Vegetative Buffers and Phytoremediation	21
4.2.2Sediment Management and Dredging	21
4.2.3Integrating Ponds into Green–Blue Urban Networks	22
4.3Effective Practices for Maintaining Urban Pond Structures (RQ3)	22
4.3.1Monitoring and Adaptive Management	22
4.3.2Vegetation and Invasive Species Control	23
4.3.3Community Engagement and Education	23
5.Discussion	25
5.1Urban Ponds as Ecological and Stormwater Infrastructure	25
5.2Technical Management and Maintenance Practices	26
5.3Social and Governance Practices	28
6.Conclusion	30
References	31

Abbreviations

EU European Union

GI Green Infrastructure

GBI Green–Blue Infrastructure

EPA / US EPA Environmental Protection Agency (United States)

BMP Best Management Practices

N / P Nitrogen / Phosphorus

CBM Community-based monitoring

RQ Research question

1. Introduction

Urbanisation has increased the importance of urban ponds, both in city planning and in research (Higgins et al., 2019). These ponds, together with lakes, comprise a part of what is commonly termed green-blue infrastructure (GBI).

Basically, GBI is a network of natural and semi-natural areas that cities try to manage in order to provide services such as flood control, water cleaning, and habitat for different species (European Commission, n.d.). This infrastructure may incorporate green elements like parks, forests, and even green roofs, but also blue features such as rivers, lakes, wetlands, and ponds.

Ponds and lakes can be differentiated based on one basic characteristic, that is, size and depth. According to Freshwater Habitats Trust (n.d.), any water body that is below two hectares (or 20,000 square meters) and shallow enough for sunlight to reach the bottom is typically considered a pond. Oertli and Parris (2019, p. 6) describe the distinctive characteristics of urban ponds as follows:

In synthesis, compared to natural or rural ponds, urban ponds are often smaller, shallower, younger, with a more regular shoreline; they include artificial structures (bottom or margin), and they are located within a built environment. Water quality is often poor due to pollution, and urban ponds commonly support exotic species (including plants, fish, and ducks).

Green infrastructure, as it is used within this context, refers to the integration of vegetated and water-based features in the urban environment. The purpose is to increase biodiversity, manage stormwater, in addition to creating spaces that can be enjoyed in a recreational way (Li et al., 2017; Persson, 2012).

Increasingly, developers are acknowledging this value, and ponds are one of the features being built to support ecosystem services and make urban areas more resilient.

Some studies have been conducted involving ponds and biodiversity, though most of those studies are focused on wider issues of pattern or ecosystem service in general (Krivtsov et al., 2022). For instance, there is evidence that ponds and green spaces help in the conservation of fauna, climate change adaptation, as well as enhancing the quality of water (Krivtsov et al., 2022). What is not well documented is the management of ponds after construction, and which practices help sustain these benefits over time.

Still, the issue of managing stormwater in cities is a challenge. Ponds in urban areas act as one of the solutions in the overall GBI system that assists in this process in several ways, including reducing flood risk, enhancing water quality, as well as assisting in urban biodiversity (Krivtsov et al., 2022; Hill et al., 2016). This rainwater often contains nutrients as well as pollutants from the impervious surface in cities, and ponds help store this water before it reaches downstream systems (Krivtsov et al., 2022).

In the last years, research about urban ponds has increased. This is a sign of a rise in the number of ponds in cities, as well as the importance of ponds in terms of both ecological and social factors (Krivtsov et al., 2022; Hill et al., 2018).

Even with this progress, there are still gaps in knowledge. A key missing topic is the post-construction management of ponds, as well as the optimal means of maintaining them in order to continue to enjoy the benefits over time (Oertli & Parris, 2019). Knowledge of pond ecology and pond management is significant for policymakers, planners, as well as the public. Local authorities, in particular, need clear knowledge about the services that ponds can provide. This is imperative in situations where urbanisation continues to exert more stress on biodiversity, as well as in situations where sustainable development is a goal in urban areas (Hassall & Anderson, 2015).

This thesis will aim to outline the roles, responsibilities, and practices that are part of urban pond management. The main focus is on how ponds contribute to stormwater control and biodiversity in urban areas. By addressing these issues, it is believed that this will help in enhancing the understanding of pond ecology, as well as offer contributions that will help towards increased acceptance of ponds in cities (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Spotswood et al., 2021). Good management is required if ponds are to retain their ecological function in order to ensure that cities are resilient and biodiverse (Oertli & Parris, 2019).

1.1 Problem statement

Despite the prospective benefits, there needs to be more research on urban pond management, considering their role in stormwater runoff mitigation and biodiversity enhancement. Spotswood et al. (2021) explain that there is scarce literature focusing on urban ponds management. There is a need to examine the management of urban ponds after implementation due to their role in increasing biodiversity movement in urban areas.

While there may not be a wealth of literature specifically focused on managing water ponds for stormwater runoff mitigation and biodiversity enhancement, the responsible actors, such as municipal authorities, urban planners, environmental agencies, and utility companies (who often maintain water infrastructure and stormwater systems) can still apply many general principles and best practices. Additionally, regional and state agencies may contribute oversight, and local communities, citizens, and NGOs often play a role in stewardship and monitoring (European Commission, n.d.; Esmail et al., 2022; Oertli & Parris, 2019; Hill et al., 2016; Krivtsov et al., 2022).

Stormwater runoff is a primary concern for urban areas as it can cause flooding, water degradation, and biodiversity loss. To address this issue, this study will focus on how these collective management approaches can improve stormwater runoff mitigation and enhance urban biodiversity, aiming to provide practical insight informed by both literature and real-world practices.

1.2 Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to investigate the role of post-constructed urban pond management in improving stormwater control and enhancing biodiversity. The focus in it will be on cities where urban ponds are designed from the beginning as part of green blue infrastructure but still require the active management to function as intended.

After being constructed, ponds depend on management to monitor their operation. Through tasks such as maintenance, monitoring, pollution control, and habitat care, management can determine the long-term success or failure of these systems.

Therefore, this study will highlight and evaluate how current practices align with responsibilities set out in municipal regulations, environmental policies, and scientific frameworks (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Hassall, 2014; Hill et al., 2016; Krivtsov et al., 2022; Esmail et al., 2022; European Commission, n.d.).

1.3 Research questions

- 1-What does existing research reveal about how urban pond management affects water quality and the ecosystem's health?
- 2-Which management tools and techniques are identified as effective, with various climates and habitat types?
- 3-What are the best practices and main challenges described in the literature for maintaining urban ponds during their operational phase?

2. Methodology

For this study, I have selected various articles and reports that are available, and having an approach that gives me some flexibility with the way in which I analyze the evidence is sensible in these circumstances. I chose to go with a qualitative literature review with my own interpretation and comparing a range of sources dealing with urban pond management and its effects on stormwater and biodiversity.

The method of thematic analysis I used was Braun & Clarke's from 2006. The process began with familiarizing myself with the literature, which included extensive readings, taking notes, and even some revisit readings if something wasn't fitting just right there. Following the initial steps, the process moved on to the organization of the codes, grouping them until some clear themes emerged. There was some review and refinement involved before the main points began to be clear, then working to pull everything together to explain just how pond management post-construction actually works.

Regarding the sources, I tried to be organized in my search, starting with peerreviewed articles, major reports, or documents that centered on the more practical side of managing ponds in the urban area. There were also some articles that featured valuable information on maintenance, surveillance, or the problems encountered in taking care of the habitat.

With each research question as a guide, I noticed that different authors took varied approaches. Investigating water quality and ecosystem health meant focusing on ecological outcomes, but for tools and techniques, I paid attention to how strategies changed across different environments. Best practices and challenges came up often in the literature and sometimes led me to rethink how I grouped my findings.

All the while, I used thematic coding to keep data organized. This enabled me to develop a qualitative synthesis that went beyond answering the study questions to pointing out the existing questions that had yet to be addressed. To be sure, I opted to synthesize qualitatively because the question is complex, context-dependent, and cannot be encapsulated in numbers alone.

This method helped me gain perspective on the work that is already out there without having to do my own field study, which makes my plan practical and, hopefully, informative.

2.1 Research design

While selecting a study design, the researcher's methodological assumptions guide the choice and explain the researcher's traits (Kothari, 2004). The current study employs a qualitative methodology and descriptive design, with assumptions guiding data collection and analysis.

These assumptions guided how data were collected and interpreted, and even more, they shaped the conclusions that emerged from the analysis. I considered two key aspects: the need of topic specificity and the use of inductive reasoning (Daniel and Sam, 2011). Inductive reasoning and gathering general meanings allowed me to develop particular knowledge using qualitative methodology.

The descriptive design assumes that detailed data are needed to provide rich descriptions, requiring large amounts of data to apply findings to similar situations. I focused on the issue at hand, analysed it, and drew broad generalisations (Daniel and Sam, 2011). This design helps describe research challenges and can be a springboard for further study.

Interpretivism lets the researcher interpret and generate meaning from collected information through interaction between the researcher and the data (Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020). Since this investigation involves interpreting information, the research process inevitably affects the problem. Gathering ideas and applying data helps understand management of urban ponds in urban environments, considering their roles in stormwater mitigation and biodiversity enhancement (Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020).

2.2 Data collection

The following stage of my plan was to identify and select the appropriate materials from the available articles and reports, starting from the systematic process previously described. I have needed an approach that allows flexibility to examine the evidence. The focus was neither on acquiring all the available information nor on material, but rather on identifying those that could provide information about how to manage post-constructed urban ponds and in which way this affects stormwater and biodiversity.

I relied on peer-reviewed sources to ensure reliability but also included policy reports that offered practical data. Some of these texts described daily practices, such as routine maintenance, water quality monitoring, or dealing with pollution and habitat pressures. I was lucky to find a broader policy or planning perspective, which helped to place those practices in context. Both analysing and studying sources presented detailed descriptions on the one hand, with broad, higher-level information on how to tackle the questions raised in the study on the other.

Once I located the desired materials, I worked through them using an iterative process: close reading, note-taking, and revisiting earlier choices when a source revealed relevance to more than one research question—for instance, a study on algae control was more than just related to water quality but also about long-term maintenance challenges. Fortunately, these overlaps were beneficial because they illustrate how different aspects of management are often connected in practice.

Regarding the management strategies or techniques, I narrowed my search to those that involved different climate or habitat conditions. For best practices and challenges, I noted cases where ponds succeeded, but also those where problems such as lack of funding or poor coordination caused limitations for their effectiveness.

However, the method of sourcing information had some challenges—in the form of regional imbalance, some regions were overrepresented in the literature, while others had little to contribute; nevertheless, it allowed me to build a diverse base of evidence. The method will also give me the entire range necessary to establish the areas covered or the areas with significant information deficits.

2.3 Data Analysis

For this study, I conducted a hands-on, systematic approach to analyze the data, relying on the six steps of Braun & Clarke's thematic analysis procedure, as described by Charalambous (2022). Since all my information came from existing literature, I didn't use any statistical tools—instead, the focus was on interpreting the texts thoughtfully and qualitatively.

It began with me familiarizing myself with the information and the material, meaning going through the articles and reports, taking notes, sometimes going back to areas that weren't clear yet, etc. Next came the process of coding, wherein I highlighted areas of the information that seemed crucial to the points covered in the study.

Starting with these initial codes, I began looking for some pattern, some way in which the themes kept reappearing, linking different pieces of the data together. This wasn't always easy, you understand—I had to refine my themes a couple of times, checking that indeed the themes that emerged accurately represented the messages the data was trying to convey to me before setting about developing them into the narrative or coherent story.

Using thematic analysis helped me organize a lot of information in a way that made sense, revealing compelling relationships between and trends around urban pond management, stormwater control, and biodiversity. In the end, this method allowed me to build a logical argument, all grounded in carefully coded qualitative evidence (Charalambous, 2022).

2.4 Scope, Criteria, and Limitations

Scope. This study is focused on published research and reports dealing with the management of constructed urban ponds. The main focus is on how post-construction practices contribute to stormwater control and biodiversity in the urban context. Studies on constructed ponds in rural context, aquaculture, or other non-urban water bodies were not considered, as they fall outside the study's objectives.

Criteria. The sources used consisted of mainly academic sources from publications, reports, grey literature, or academic sources related to the involvement of urban ponds in stormwater mitigation or biodiversity. Only sources with English publications have been used, hence consistency in the meaning of interpretation is ensured.

Searches were carried out in several databases, including Web of Science, Science Direct, Primo, SpringerLink, and Google Scholar, using keywords such as *urban ponds*, *pond management*, *stormwater runoff*, *biodiversity*, and *urban cities*. Articles were screened in stages: duplicates removed, titles and abstracts checked for relevance, and then full texts reviewed against the criteria. Sources that lacked sufficient or relevant information were excluded, while those that contributed to at least one of the research questions were retained.

Limitations. Like all literature reviews, some limitations had to be accepted within the context of the current study. The reliance on English-language sources excluded potentially valuable studies published elsewhere. Access to full texts and time available for review also limited the breadth of material that could be covered within the scope of a bachelor's thesis.

In addition, interpretation of qualitative data is not entirely free from subjectivity. The current study is also taken from the personal background, beliefs, and experiences, meaning there is the possibility of influencing the study. Complete neutrality is unlikely, but steps are taken to be self-conscious and reflective to minimise bias and present the findings as fairly as possible.

2.5 Ethical Considerations

This research is grounded on a systematic literature review, using only publicly available documents and published sources, not original data from human subjects (Grinyer, 2009).

No direct ethical approval was required for the review process.

Data integrity was maintained by providing the entire result without copying or modifying the original material.

The requirement for originality, citation, was also maintained throughout, consistent with the requirement for academic secondary data analysis.

3. Literature Review

This chapter will focus on the key areas that define the study on managing urban ponds. To begin with, I will explore some of the current practices that emerge in the process of trying to manage ponds in urban areas (Section 3.1). The next section will then reveal why these ponds are so important for supporting biodiversity in the midst of the city itself (Section 3.2). Finally, I explore how urban ponds tie into bigger environmental goals—connecting what happens in these small patches of water with urban planning, development pressures, and policy issues (Section 3.3).

By bringing together these perspectives, the chapter lays out the groundwork for understanding how thoughtful management of urban ponds can help cities become more resilient and biodiverse. Hopefully, this review helps answer the questions raised earlier and makes a case for why urban pond management deserves more attention.

3.1 Urban Pond Management

Urban ponds receive scant attention, yet their significance cannot be ignored within the urban environment. Most of these ponds are human-made, meaning that to be beneficial, they must receive constant maintenance to ensure their functionality is optimized. When managed well, they are able to prevent floods, purify the effluent, or create mini-environments for the survival of animals in hostile areas (Ramaiah & Avtar, 2019; Zuniga-Palacios et al., 2021).

The challenge is that ponds are not always as safe as they appear to be to the naked eye. Birds and other animals may be drawn to them, but pollution or repeated disturbance can turn them into poor habitats. These situations, known as ecological traps, show that simply creating ponds is not enough. Careful monitoring and flexible management are needed if they are to remain reliable refuges (Oertli & Parris, 2019).

Pond ecology in urban areas also impacts the adaptation among the species existing in that habitat. For example, amphibians exhibit strong adaptability abilities to chemicals or water changes in their surroundings. Although adaptation is beneficial for the survival of the species, the adaptability of the species can be seen as an indicator of stress or reduction in the population, which is important for the conservation of the species by the managers of the environment (Lambert & Donihue, 2020).

The biggest pressure is from urban living itself. The runoffs from the roads, gardens, and residential areas bring oils, fertilizers, and other chemicals into the pond. Big sewerage systems alleviate some of the burden, but community efforts are also necessary. Planting plants that will absorb pollutants, cleaning the

sediment, or analyzing the pond water are some measures that can be taken to care for the pond effectively (Price, 2011; Bhat et al., 2020).

Not all cities have the capacity required to control these systems. In European countries, there are stricter rules, resources, and capabilities to engage in active management practices. However, budget constraints, along with the lack of necessary skills, are some challenges, especially for rapidly developing cities, to maintain ponds efficiently in good condition, according to Schmadel et al. (2019). In some countries, such as Sweden, ponds are accounted for in the stormwater design plans for residential areas, but unsupervised ponds are common in other countries with fewer rules.

More recent uses have involved the connection of ponds to wider green and blue infrastructure. When integrated into the network in green areas, such as parks, rivers, or wetlands, the pond can be connected to the regeneration of the environment, allowing citizens to enjoy the outdoors within the heart of the city itself (Donati et al., 2022; Hill et al., 2016).

3.1.1 Historical Evolution and Management Approaches

Urban ponds have been of interest to humans since ancient times and have therefore been relied upon as components of water resources management (Oertli, 2018). The need to create ponds has led to a focus largely on hydraulic functions such as detention and water quality improvement, with less attention being given to ecological values (US EPA, 2011). As since human life has evolved, pond systems have evolved from simple collection basins to complex and multifunctional systems for water management within the urban environment (Hassall and Anderson, 2015).

In the modern era, especially since the early 20th century, due to the increasing movement of people from the countryside to cities, the municipalities have increasingly integrated stormwater management into their frameworks, with large-scale installations in cities across North America, Europe, and beyond (Hill et al., 2016; Oertli and Parris, 2019). New studies emerged to explore the role of these engineered ponds in sustaining various biotic communities. Research conducted in Europe and the USA indicated the creation of biotic communities for amphibians, macroinvertebrates, or birds, some of which are even comparable to those within natural wetlands, according to Hassall & Anderson (2015) and Hill et al. (2018).

The shift brought about by the development was represented in the approaches of the Management, which have widened correspondingly. This is because the integration of traditional engineering activities with ecological restoration was made possible with the help of activities such as habitat enhancement, vegetation buffers, the control of invasive species, and community outreach (Oertli & Parris, 2019; U.S. EPA, 2021).

3.1.2 Examples of Urban Pond Management Techniques

Pond maintenance in urban areas also involves more than just maintenance, with the focus on the selection of the appropriate mechanisms for solving the problems occurring in the pond. Among the techniques used is phytoremediation, involving the planting of plants or buffer strips surrounding the pond to assimilate nutrients, remove pollutants, and stabilize the shores of the pond. Such practices help improve the quality of the pond water while providing additional habitat for species (Bhat et al., 2020; Zuniga-Palacios et al., 2021).

Another approach is dredging, clearing out sediments that build up with contaminants. Removing this layer restores depth and oxygen levels, which are crucial for fish, insects, and other aquatic life (Flanagan et al., 2021; Price, 2011). Ponds can also be tied into larger stormwater systems, so they help manage flooding while giving polluted runoff more time to filter naturally (Donati et al., 2022).

Long-term care also involves monitoring unwanted species, also known as invasives, in addition to involving the surrounding community. Monitoring these unwanted species is crucial in preventing the problem of ecological imbalances from going beyond control, while the involvement of the surrounding community invites them to contribute to the surveying process, hence allowing the community to develop ownership of the ecological system (Márton et al., 2025).

Together, these methods show how management can directly shape whether ponds thrive or decline. They are also closely tied to the management challenges this research is exploring.

3.2 Urban Ponds as Stormwater Management Infrastructure

To match the rate of urban development and ensure prosperity for the land, there are many land-use changes occurring within urban areas, including the replacement of the permeable and green surface cover with impermeable surface cover, leading to increased stormwater runoff volumes and peak discharge (Fletcher et al., 2015). However, with the advancement in science and technology and engineering developments, ponds in the urban context have emerged as an important part of stormwater management, with the main responsibility of dealing with the problem of floods by regulating the quality, quantity, or even managing the runoff process. The pond system serves as an efficient tool in the reduction of peak runoff levels, offering holistic benefits related to water quality aspects. (US EPA, 2011).

Apart from their efficiency in hydraulic functions, stormwater ponds also play a significant role in stormwater quality enhancement. Through the sedimentation and biological uptake processes, suspended solids are trapped, while nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus, as well as heavy metals and hydrocarbons from road

runoff, as vegetation around and within ponds further enhances these processes by acting as natural filters (Marques & Mandrak, 2024).

Over time, unfortunately, these treatment processes cannot be undertaken without risks and challenges. Due to the constant runoff, the sedimentation material with high concentrations of metals, pesticides, and organic compounds settled on the bottom surface, hence increasing the reduction in the volume due to the reduction in the pond's depth (Flanagan et al., 2021). Things can go from bad to worse if the phosphorus is cycled internally, leading to its release back into the water, fuelling algal blooms, creating oxygen deficits, or even leading to the transformation of pond areas from pollution sinks to secondary pollution sources, and it becomes a source of problems instead of being a solution. (Williams et al., 2013). These challenges will result in the reduction of the performance, and without managerial interventions.

These problems will sharply decline the performance, and without adaptive interventions from managers. A stormwater pond, if it is to maintain its functions effectively, also needs specialised processes for its management, which could be the removal of sediment, evaluation of inflow/outflow structures, or the consistent monitoring of water quality, according to Heal et al. (2006) and U.S. EPA (2021).

These steps will help ensure that the urban ponds continue to offer stormwater detention and pollutant reduction services throughout the operational lifespan of the ponds (Marques & Mandrak, 2024).

3.3 Urban Ponds as Vital Components of Biodiversity Conservation

Urban ponds aren't just pretty features scattered through cities—they're key players in making urban landscapes more diverse and resilient. Even though many of these ponds are small, together they add up to a big impact, supporting all kinds of life—including rare and threatened species—even if their biodiversity doesn't quite match that of rural ponds (Alikhani et al., 2021). Because most urban ponds are artificial and often located between fragmented habitats, they serve as stepping stones for wildlife, by helping plants and animals move across the city. Ponds also help clean water and trap carbon, offering their benefits for both ecosystems and the communities nearby (Alikhani et al., 2021).

These urban ponds aren't just valuable for wildlife—they offer people real benefits, too. Firstly, they help keep city temperatures comfortable by cooling the air, provide pockets of green for relaxation, and make neighbourhoods more inviting places to live (Song et al., 2020). The "urban heat island" effect, caused by all the concrete and pavement, can make cities unpleasantly hot; healthy urban ponds help counteract this problem, saving energy and improving public health.

Secondly, urban ponds are essential for keeping cities vibrant and livable (Esmail et al., 2022). More than just physical spaces, urban ponds open up chances for learning. They offer everyone—from schoolkids to curious adults—a real-world window into how natural systems work. At the same time, urban expansion challenges these habitats, changing natural cycles and cutting up habitats so wildlife has to work harder to survive (Li et al., 2022). Getting a grip on these pressures is the first step towards better city planning, helping communities weave green and blue spaces throughout urban neighbourhoods for the benefit of both biodiversity and climate resilience (Aram et al., 2019; Esmail et al., 2022).

As more people move to cities, it's more important than ever to protect these urban pond hotspots. They face constant threats, yes, but they offer remarkable shelter for biodiversity even under tough conditions. By restoring and maintaining urban ponds and surrounding green spaces, cities can become more robust in the face of climate change, and support wildlife on a broader, regional scale (Alikhani et al., 2021; Esmail et al., 2022).

While urban ponds are shown to help maintain regional species richness, most studies note declines in sensitive taxa due to habitat fragmentation and poor water quality (Alikhani et al., 2021). This highlights a need for further investigation into habitat restoration and corridor creation—topics directly addressed by my research objectives.

3.4 Impacts of Urbanization on Urban Pond Ecosystems

Urban areas have expanded enormously over the last hundred years, transforming the face of cities across the globe (Williams et al., 2013). With the increasing number of people migrating to urban areas, the water bodies in these areas, particularly urban ponds, are also being impacted. With the growth of cities and the increase in the population, the pressure on urban ponds from construction, pollution, and other sources is also on the increase, making the management of freshwater biodiversity in these areas even more difficult, with green spaces shrinking due to human activity (Hassall & Anderson, 2015).

Besides their ecological importance, there are several other aspects in which urban ponds are valuable to city life. They contain water, which is much required, be it for the vendors, factories, or the inhabitants in the more populated areas. Furthermore, ponds are also valuable in reducing temperature and providing green patches in the otherwise crowded city, which become ideal locations for social gatherings, be it cultural or recreational, providing attractive places in the urban landscape (Heal et al., 2006).

Despite all these advantages, urban ponds are often left on the sidelines when managing water resources in urban areas. Urbanization and the increasing population mean that these ponds are experiencing strain, with the pressure to provide for different needs sometimes having had detrimental consequences. Mismanagement has resulted in poorer water quality and shrinking pond resources (Villasenor et al., 2017). For cities to keep thriving, it's essential to recognize how important these ponds really are—and to manage them smartly before they slip away for good (Villasenor et al., 2017).

Although much is known about water quality degradation in urban ponds, less is documented about long-term remediation effectiveness, as highlighted by Flanagan et al. (2021). Few studies offer comparative evidence on policy-driven restoration versus community-led initiatives, a gap this research will explore.

To conclude, research shows that urban ponds are much more than just aesthetic components of the urban landscape. They are human-made structures, requiring intelligent management to ensure they continue to work well. However, if well managed, urban ponds are capable of providing benefits to the community, from flood protection to cleaner water sources, among others. But these systems, which are under constant pressure due to the rapid rate of urbanisation, are facing new challenges, and many questions are yet to be answered, such as how well restoration methods work in the long run and how different governance models, from government-led programmes to community efforts, affect outcomes.

Such knowledge gaps inform the scope of the study. Through its focus on pond management within the context of biodiversity conservation under the conditions of ongoing urbanization, the study intends to demonstrate how cities can effectively support the conservation of these small but important bodies of water.

3.5 Ecosystem Services of Urban Ponds: Trade-offs and Synergies

The studied literature indicates that urban ponds can provide different levels of services, going beyond the minimum stormwater regulation, by sharing common attributes in the intersection of the hydrologic, ecological, and urban spheres. That is why, nowadays, they are more often recognized in the context of multifunctional eco-systems, merging the technical needs with the possibilities of ecology (Hill et al., 2018).

Evidence showed that, aside from having beneficial hydrologic functions, the design of urban ponds must be made multi-functional to maximise these benefits, including their uses in biodiversity, recreation, culture, or even the cooling effect on climate through local cooling and carbon uptake (Hamel & Tan, 2021). Hill et al. (2018) emphasize that with the broad suite of services that ponds can provide, they become unique features in urban planning, where few infrastructures have the ability to provide the urban areas with different ecological, social, and technical

benefits simultaneously. Vegetated ponds, for example, can support amphibian and bird populations while also enhancing water quality (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Hamer & Parris 2011). Networks of connected ponds enhance biodiversity and resilience against floods simultaneously (Hassall & Anderson, 2015; Donati et al., 2022).

However, "trade-offs" are also inevitable. The design optimised for hydraulic efficiency, may result in the simplification of habitats, leading to the reduction of species diversity. Within the same context, dredging enhances the quality of water, but its benthic communities are disrupted temporarily. The linking of ponds to create bigger aquatic networks boosts the resilience of the system but also poses greater threats of invasive species distribution (Clevenot et al., 2018; Oertli & Parris, 2019). Such tensions show the need for adaptive management that weighs short-term efficiency against long-term ecological integrity. (Gebreselassie et al., 2022)

Policy and planning frameworks such as the EU Green Infrastructure Strategy (2013) and the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 increasingly prioritise nature-based solutions. So, integrating ponds within green-blue infrastructure networks can ensure resilience, improve quality of life, and support biodiversity within dense urban landscapes (European Commission, 2013; Oertli & Parris, 2019).

4. Results

In this chapter, I am sharing what this study has uncovered through reviewing existing research and case studies. This chapter walks you through the main findings grouped around the three key questions at the heart of the research: 1-how pond management influences water quality and ecosystem health; 2-which management tools and techniques actually work well in different climates and habitats; and 3-what the best practices and biggest challenges are when it comes to keeping urban ponds healthy over time.

Each section pulls together insights from several sources rather than focusing on single studies. The aim is to give a clear sense of what researchers and practitioners already know, where practices seem to work, and where gaps still exist. This way, the results build a foundation for the discussion that follows in the next chapter.

4.1 Management Effects on Water Quality and Ecosystem Health (RQ1)

The urban ponds are usually designed small and scattered; at the same time, they carry a weight far bigger than their size. There are some studies that show they support biodiversity and help keep ecosystems working inside cities (Flanagan et al.2021, Gallagher et al., 2011).

We can infer the effectiveness of the pond in managing stormwater, pollution and the surrounding surfaces, from its condition (Márton et al., 2025). One of the most common indicators is nutrient build-up. Often, the Nitrogen and phosphorus from runoff, fertilisers, detergents, and wastewater collect in ponds and trigger eutrophication. Causing algae blooms, oxygen drops, and aquatic life suffering (Flanagan et al., 2021; Márton et al., 2025).

Retention ponds can significantly reduce nutrient concentrations, with one study reporting phosphorus and nitrogen removal rates between 10-47% over a one-year monitoring period (Yazdi et al., 2021). Similarly, ponds with heterogeneous design—featuring varied depths and macrophyte cover—support higher macroinvertebrate and amphibian diversity compared to simplified designs (Hassall & Anderson, 2015; Hill et al., 2021). Some research points to a simple but effective fix: plants. Vegetative working as buffers (reed beds, aquatic plants, and green strips) soak up excess nutrients fast before they reach the water (Pandey & Tripathi, 2019; Bhat et al., 2020). Incorporating ponds in wider green-blue infrastructure systems, including wetlands and riparian areas, improves the ecosystem service values of ponds as well as their performance contribution to urban flood resilience (Donati et al., 2022).

These results thus verify that properly maintained ponds can effectively support both stormwater management and biodiversity conservation. That is why monitoring is important since it assists in detecting those issues earlier on.

Unfortunately, the greatest factor affecting the pond's condition remains human activity. Pollution sources include factories, roads, gardens, as well as recreational activities (Price, 2011; Bhat et al., 2020). Some of this is taken care of by the citywide systems; however, local activity is also important, planting filtering vegetation, dredging out sedimentation, and monitoring water quality periodically (Worcester, 2024; Bhat et al., 2020). Nevertheless, some studies highlight that ponds built fundamentally for hydraulic purposes do not necessarily offer the same results in an ecological perspective. Steep-banked or frequently dredged ponds often simplify habitats, which in the second hand will impact species richness negatively and reduce secure breeding for amphibians and birds (Clevenot et al., 2018; Gebreselassie et al., 2022). So, Dredging improves water quality by removing accumulated sediments, on one side, and it temporarily disrupts benthic communities and may even cause damage if performed during breeding seasons (Clevenot et al., 2018).

Furthermore, urban ponds can act as ecological traps, seeming nice in the surface, but attracting species to apparently suitable habitats that are in fact contaminated or subject to frequent disturbance (Oertli & Parris, 2019). Some studies documented accumulation of heavy metals and hydrocarbons in stormwater ponds, which stresses aquatic organisms and potentially transfers pollutants along the food chain (Gallagher et al., (2011).

In summary, managers need to be more aware of the steady challenges facing urban ponds management, including, among other things, nutrient buildup, surface runoff, and ecological traps, and at the same time, be aware of the preventive measures that can maintain cleaner conditions and stronger ecosystems. In the following section, we will look more closely at the tools and techniques identified in recent studies as effective measures.

4.2 Effective Management Tools and Techniques for Urban Ponds (RQ2)

The challenges presented above have forced researchers and practitioners to inspect and introduce a variety of management strategies to tackle these challenges. This section highlights several approaches—such as vegetative buffers, sediment removal, and Integrating Ponds into Green–Blue Urban Networks -whose effectiveness varies by climate and ecosystem type.

4.2.1 Vegetative Buffers and Phytoremediation

Some studies highlight the function of using plant buffers—reeds, sedges, and floating mats, which remains one of the simplest but most reliable tools for urban pond management. They have a very reliable role in intercepting nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus before these reach the open water, which are so effective in damping algal blooms and maintaining oxygen levels for fish and amphibians. At the same time, they be used for their aesthetic value (Petrova et al., 2022). Wang et al. (2012) demonstrated in his field research in China that root-channel wetlands planted with macrophytes have the ability to retain significant amounts of heavy metals in both sediments and plant tissues, helping to reduce pollutant loads even under slightly contaminated conditions. In addition, case studies from Europe show that buffer strips and green patches around road networks accumulate heavy metals and act as sustainable phytoremediation zones, highlighting their role in protecting adjacent ponds (Petrova, 2022).

Species choice matters. Macrophytes such as Typha and Eichhornia have proven effective at nutrient and metal uptake, but results are most consistent when managers use locally adapted species (Wang et al. 2012, Petrova 2022). Results are best when species are locally adapted; in heavily industrial or polluted sites, however, outcomes have been mixed, which shows the need for repeated monitoring (Wang et al., 2014).

4.2.2 Sediment Management and Dredging

The sediments in city ponds often consist of a lot of substances besides the soil. The stormwater and runoff to the ponds carry with them everything from human activities they can find in their way through the roads and surfaces around the ponds. They often carry pesticides, hydrocarbons, and heavy metals (Flanagan et al., 2021).

Clevenot et al. (2018) explained in their article that the harmful effects of these sediments on the ecosystem in the pond, such as road salts and nitrates, can cause sub-lethal effects on amphibians, but at the same time, they lead to slow death in the long term. Even though the harmful effects are shown on the surface, it can be delayed or subtle, because these pollutants are often released slowly from the sediments at the bottom of the pond, and by the time the effects are clearly visible on the surface, the damage to the oxygen and the pH of the water has already occurred, which can described as ecological trap. (Clevenot et al., 2018).

The dredging of the pond rids it of the sediments, can restore the requested depth, and the perfect conditions for oxygen and pH, though costs and ecological disturbance mean it has to be carefully timed, the best results balance habitat protection with the removal of accumulated pollutants (Zhang et al., 2021).

4.2.3 Integrating Ponds into Green-Blue Urban Networks

Finally, ponds from the beginning designed as part of stormwater management and it would work best when they are not isolated. Linking them with other green and blue structures—streams, wetlands, parks— will improves connectivity for wildlife and enhancing the ecosystem by creating Ecological corridors and makes water systems more resilient to both pollution and floods control. and no doubt that strongest results come from the Integrated planning between all stockholders in urban planning such as municipalities, ecologists, and local communities (Oertli & Parris, 2019).

4.3 Effective Practices for Maintaining Urban Pond Structures (RQ3)

While Section 4.2 highlighted a broad range of tools and techniques available to be applied to urban ponds, such as vegetation buffers or sediment removal, this section turns attention to daily routine operations, which managers rely on taking place after those techniques are applied. Here, we can distinguish between the operational practices, which refer to the daily routine as behind-the-scenes tasks to maintain these systems daily for long-term performance, such as inspection schedules, maintenance routines, water quality monitoring, and practical responses

to problems as they arise, while tools and techniques represent methods chosen for thoughtful pond management depending on varying ecological and institutional conditions.

By drawing a clear line between what you install and what you do, enables us to make sense of urban pond management. It becomes easier to focus on the day-to-day realities and obstacles of maintaining urban ponds' functioning, rather than only on initial design or tool selection. (EPA, 2021)

4.3.1 Monitoring and Adaptive Management

One of the most widely cited practices is the routine monitoring of water quality and ecological indicators. Continuous measuring of water quality parameters, including dissolved oxygen, turbidity, pH, nutrient concentrations, and contaminants, helps the managers to take crucial decisions and timely interventions (Oertli & Parris, 2019).

Several studies have emphasised that adaptive management, in other words, adjusting maintenance strategies in response to these outcomes, as central to maintaining the ponds' functionality under varying climates and land-use conditions (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Skovira & Bohlen 2023).

Community science initiatives, such as (local residents and volunteers, have enhanced monitoring capacity by collecting and sharing environmental data, contributing valuable data that improves responsiveness and taking adaptive management decisions (Kuitert & van Buuren, 2022).

4.3.2 Vegetation and Invasive Species Control

Management of the Vegetation growth in the ponds is another recurring practice to preserve pond function and biodiversity. Routine tasks include controlling invasive species, maintaining native plant cover for nutrient filtration. Supporting native species and keeping them in balance between aesthetic and ecological aspects, while keeping invasives under control, is highlighted as a best practice (Alikhani et al., 2021). Gallagher et al., (2011) present in their study how the pollutants, such as road salts and nitrates, can negatively impact ponds' vegetation by stressing or eliminating sensitive plant species, reducing the effectiveness of vegetative buffers for nutrient filtration and habitat support. Furthermore, this loss of vegetation function can convert the ponds into ecological traps—there, the habitat appears suitable for wildlife, but it actually exposes amphibians and other species to harmful conditions (Clevenot et al., 2018).

4.3.3 Community Engagement and Education

Citizen and neighbourhood participation in the management process is long-term beneficial and is therefore a crucial component in pond management. Long-term pond health improves when residents feel a sense of ownership and increased vigilance with regard to changes within and around the pond (Oertli and Parris, 2019).

The benefits are not only technical, but it is often the everyday choices of nearby residents are also crucial for the pond's fate. Their participation builds a sense of stewardship among community members, which makes them more likely to support long-term management actions, which also creates faster responses to new problems (Conrad, C. C., & Hilchey, K. G., 2011).

One of the strongest ways to make this involvement real is community science. There, ordinary residents such as students, retirees, nature groups—have more opportunity to participate physically on the site than any city staff ever could (Conrad & Hilchey 2011). When people understand why a scruffy patch of plants matters for biodiversity, or why dredging is needed sometimes for water quality, they are more inclined to support management decisions and even contribute to pond care (Oertli & Parris, 2019). No matter what they are practising around the pond, their eyes and ears often spot changes before managers do. Whether they are studying animals and vegetation or analysing soil and water clarity with simple kits, their observations provide early warnings and create stronger datasets for long-term planning. (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Buytaert et al., 2014). Of course, there are challenges, such as communication gaps between volunteers and city officials.

Nevertheless, studies and evidence show that the more the community is engaged, the healthier ponds are, the earlier problems are spotted, and communities feel more powerful and responsible than if the entire management were left to experts alone (Spotswood et al., 2021).

Discussion

In this chapter, my focus is to discuss the outcomes that were presented in the previous Chapter 4 and connect them to the broader context of urban pond management. The aim is to explore the implications of the results, highlighting trade-offs, and positioning them within existing research.

After studying the results we have obtained, it is evident that management of urban ponds includes stormwater and different ecological, technical, and social aspects and challenges, which are both complex and interconnected. To reflect the interdisciplinary nature of the topic, the discussion goes beyond the RQs and will be divided into three parts. The first addresses the ecological dimensions, focusing on biodiversity, ecosystem services, and resilience. The second examines the technical tools and management approaches, evaluating how interventions perform

across different contexts. The third considers the social and governance practices, emphasising the role of community engagement, institutional arrangements, and education in long-term pond management.

5.1 Urban Ponds as Ecological and Stormwater Infrastructure

The results already showed that urban ponds provide benefits far beyond their size, functioning both as stormwater infrastructure and as ecological habitats, by retaining and detaining runoff, reducing peak discharges, and at the same time, trapping sediments and pollutants.

Yazdi et al. (2021) in their study confirmed the effectiveness of urban ponds in nutrient control. They reported reductions of 10-47% in nitrogen and phosphorus within retention ponds over one year, highlighting their importance in improving water quality. And it's worth noting that they emphasise that nutrient removal efficiencies vary throughout the year due to biological and environmental factors, highlighting their relevance while acknowledging the seasonal variability and limits of single-pond studies.

The results from the reviewed studies similarly indicate that ponds with vegetated buffers and heterogeneous depth zones performed better in nutrient capture and pollutant reduction than simplified designs focused only on hydraulic efficiency. These findings support earlier evidence that macrophyte cover and shoreline complexity improve both pollutant removal and ecological conditions (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Hassall & Anderson, 2015).

At the ecological level, ponds act as important biodiversity nodes within urban landscapes. They provide habitats for amphibians, macroinvertebrates, and birds, especially when macrophyte cover and shoreline heterogeneity are present (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Hassall & Anderson, 2015). Integration into wider blue—green infrastructure networks further amplify these benefits by creating ecological stepping-stones and dispersal corridors (Donati et al., 2022).

However, the results also underline that these synergies are not guaranteed. Poorly designed or maintained ponds can lead to eutrophication, oxygen depletion, and pollutant accumulation, creating ecological traps where species are attracted to degraded habitats (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Márton et al., 2025). The trade-offs identified in Chapter 4 align with those reported in the literature. Hydraulic efficiency, which comes through steep bank designs and simplified structures, improves flow regulation but reduces habitat complexity, which can lower species richness. In the same context, the dredging, which can be used to remove sediments and restore storage capacity, will disrupt benthic life and amphibian reproduction if conducted during sensitive seasons (Clevenot et al., 2018). Similarly, green

corridors and connectivity across ponds contribute to increasing hydrological resilience and ecological diversity, but on the other hand, will facilitate the spread of invasive species, posing a management dilemma. These patterns emphasise the importance of taking not only hydrological efficiency into account, rather their ecological consequences when assessing the urban ponds. (Havel et al. 2015).

5.2 Technical Management and Maintenance Practices

The ecological benefits described in the previous section rely fundamentally on how well urban ponds are managed and maintained (Oertli and Parris, 2019; Hill et al., 2016). Results described in chapters 4.2 and 4.3, with supporting findings from recent international studies referenced in this thesis, demonstrate that pond management requires a combination of practical engineering skills, including sediment removal to maintain pond performance, as well as pond water quality monitoring, with natural management strategies such as the use of aquatic vegetation to absorb or biodegrade detrimental pollutants (Flanagan et al., 2021; Pandey & Tripathi, 2019).

In this part of the discussion, we will examine these results in more detail to see how technological approaches help in achieving cleaner water, better stormwater systems, and healthier pond ecosystems, as well as touch on the practical issues and challenges that often come into play in managing ponds in cities (US EPA, 2021; Donati et al., 2022; Skovira & Bohlen, 2023).

Technical Tools and Their Effectiveness. Vegetative buffer systems, as well as phytoremediation techniques, could be identified as one of the most inexpensive techniques that could be effectively used to preserve water quality in ponds in urban areas. Recent findings on this process include that root-channel wetlands, as well as macrophytes, possess the ability to remove nutrients as well as heavy metals, thereby leading to increased water clarity (Pandey, 2019; Petrova, 2022). Moreover, even the type of species selected is of utmost importance in this process. It has been found that native species, such as Typha/Eichhornia, are found to be most effective, while non-native species often show variable results and require more maintenance. (Pandey, 2019).

Sediment management and dredging. Dredging is a crucial process in reinstating the depth and oxygen level in a pond required by aquatic life by eliminating the contaminated sediment in the pond (Clevenot et al., 2018; Heal et al., 2006; Zhang, 2021). Nevertheless, we must not disregard the consideration that excessive dredging done at improper timings can result in achieving a converse effect that affects benthic fauna and breeding of amphibians; thus, the best way to avoid this, and minmize the ecological harm is scheduling dredging activities outside reproductive seasons (Clevenot et al., 2018).

Integrated practice. Through the integration of biological filtering with dredging, we shall be able to optimise pond functions, as this will also exemplify that low-cost ecological approaches are beneficial in conjunction with those of engineers (Donati et al., 2022).

It is important to state that, despite the fact that sometimes institutional issues in urban pond management come to the fore, there are still financial constraints in pond management that lead to a delay in the important sediment removal process (Donati et al., 2022). These technical tools alone will not ensure effective management of the urban pond, as there is a factor of follow-up on the performance and adjusting it over time.

Here we come to the adaptive management, which is a critical feedback-based process of monitoring and adjusting practices in maintenance, as well as contributing to pond performance under rainfall and pollution impacts (Oertli & Parris, 2019; Skovira & Bohlen, 2023. We also obtain data from the persistent monitoring of nutrients as well as dissolved oxygen, which trigger early signals/warnings of the onset of either eutrophication or water quality decline. These data offer such a high level of quality that one can rely on in making decisions, that maintenance activities can transition from a cleaning response to a planning activity or, in other words, from reactive cleaning to proactive planning in a way that minimises ecological damage. (EPA, 2021).

Nevertheless, in practice, financial constraints do affect the municipalities at times such that they struggle to ensure that there is continuity in monitoring, as well as a response from management (Donati et al., 2022). It is important to recognise that there has been a positive experience in community-based monitoring in increasing shared responsibility towards pond management through expanding the local data coverage and filling the gap in spatial data (Conrad & Hilchey, 2011; Buytaert et al., 2014).

Apart from what is already mentioned, integrating urban ponds into wider blue-green infrastructure systems can add to the overall efficiency of hydraulic regulation, pollutants removal, as well as resistance to urban flooding (Hamel & Tan, 2021; Donati et al., 2022). This aligns well with the EU Green Infrastructure Strategy and the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030, which both advocate multifunctional water infrastructures as a means of addressing climate change. This integration is ensured by a successful collaboration of various disciplines such as water engineering, ecology, and planning in a way that minimises conflict between hydraulic optimisation, on one hand, and ecological efficiency, on the other. (European Commission, 2013; European Commission, 2020).

In conclusion, the management of urban ponds needs equal consideration of both technological and ecological issues to end with improved water quality and management of stormwater but can also lead to increased ecological resilience (Donati et al., 2022; Flanagan et al., 2021; Pandey & Tripathi, 2019). In addition to

these technological solutions, it needs continuous monitoring, adjustment, as well as interdisciplinarity between technological, ecological, and urban planning expertise (US EPA, 2021; Donati et al., 2022). As will be evident in the next section, this kind of coordination is most effective when technical approaches are integrated with governance practices as well as urban policies.

5.3 Social and Governance Practices

Section 5.3 shifts focus from how urban ponds are managed technically to who manages them and how governance decisions shape their effectiveness. Social factors such as policy frameworks, institutional cooperation, and community participation are significantly influential in determining success related to technical and ecological approaches.

Urban ponds often function within a fragmented institutional framework where responsibilities are shared between municipal water departments, environmental agencies, and other contractors, leading to issues of coordination and lack of accountability (Kuitert & van Buuren, 2022). Wihlborg et al. (2019) applied a transition theory framework to explain the forces influencing the implementation of blue-green infrastructure by Swedish municipalities. Their study revealed that fragmented governance and slow institutional transitions continue to constrain effective stormwater management. The authors have identified through semistructured interviews with municipal stormwater practitioners growing demands for recreation, biodiversity protection, and climate adaptation as key drivers of BGI adoption. Nevertheless, internal challenges, such as organisational rigidity, and external challenges, such as a lack of awareness about e-government, remain as obstacles that slow down its implementation. Findings indicated that pilot projects cannot trigger systemic transformation on their own, and that changes need to be made at a legal and financial system level that favours institutional learning and cooperation on a long-term scale. Moreover, Bohman et al. (2020) point out that equal progress is still lacking in achieving more comprehensive and cooperative stormwater management, as they stress that formal and informal institutional changes are required to enhance sustainability transitions. Based on workshops, interviews, and surveys, they propose incorporating stormwater risk evaluations on a catchment scale into planning and having a centralised leadership coordinating efforts towards common goals.

Collectively, these studies have made it clear that genuine governance reform through legal, financial, and organisational change is essential for embedding sustainable stormwater and pond management within municipal policy structures. Policies such as -EU Green Infrastructure Strategy (European Commission, 2013), and EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 (European Commission, 2020) identify

integrated planning and governance that links ecological and technical objectives as essential. However, local implementation of such frameworks is still a challenge because of administrative silos and short-term procurements that prevail.

Thus, adequate pond governance entails institutional, funding, and interdepartmental considerations and cooperation. Going beyond institutional reform, social engagement is essential for maintaining effective governance of ponds. Community-based monitoring and citizen science projects can help address capacity issues by expanding data-gathering efforts and community responsibility for pond maintenance (Conrad & Hilchey, 2011; Buytaert et al., 2014).

On the other hand, the urban water-management domain has to build compelling new relationships with the private sector and civil society, as BGI is typically constructed above the surface and is, therefore, sometimes located on private property. Initiatives aimed at public awareness, such as workshops and community stewardship campaigns, can help people become more knowledgeable about ponds ecosystem role and build public support for pond maintenance. (Kuitert & van Buuren, 2022). By incorporating these participatory methods into formal structures of governance, this gap can be bridged and reinforced on all fronts, including ecologic accomplishment as well as public trust.

6. Conclusion

The study evaluated how to manage urban ponds to fulfil their role in stormwater control and biodiversity enhancement. Results show their providing services in mitigating stormwater and enhancing biodiversity; even though they face large challenges in the form of urban pollution inputs, nutrient loading and limited maintenance.

Urban ponds require efficient management techniques that help maintain water quality and minimise biological risks, such as reducing household pollutants and pesticides. Besides routine dredging and debris removal activities, these practices, therefore, need to be integrated into governance planning frameworks and be synchronized with community social engagement as well. It is clear, based on available evidence, that urban ponds cannot be effectively managed if they are considered as minor landscape elements. They are essential components of urban stormwater infrastructure and biological networks. They need to be considered as multifunctional infrastructure elements, and this will be indispensable for sustainable urban development.

Overall, based on their effective and vital role in urban cities, they should be considered as multifunctional infrastructure, and treated as vital components for urban stormwater systems, and supported adaptive framework to ensure long-term performance.

References

- Alikhani, S., Nummi, P. and Ojala, A., (2021). Urban wetlands: A review on ecological and cultural values. *Water*, *13(22)*, *Article 3301*. https://doi.org/10.3390/w13223301.
- Alharahsheh, H.H. and Pius, A., (2020). A review of key paradigms: Positivism vs interpretivism. *Global Academic Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 2(3), 39–43. https://doi.org/10.36348/gajhss.2020.v02i03.001.
- Aram, F., García, E.H., Solgi, E. and Mansournia, S., 2019. Urban green space cooling effect in cities. *Heliyon*, *5*(4), p.e01339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01339.
- Bhat, M.M., Shukla, R.N. and Yunus, M., 2020. Urban pond ecosystems: preservation and management through phytoremediation. *Fresh water pollution dynamics and remediation*, pp.263-291. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8277-2_15.
- Bohman, A., Glaas, E., & Karlson, M. (2020). Integrating sustainable stormwater management in urban planning: Ways forward towards institutional change and collaborative action. *Water*, 12(1), 203. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12010203.
- Buytaert, W., et al. (2014). Citizen science in hydrology and water resources: opportunities for knowledge generation, ecosystem service management, and sustainable development. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, *2*, *26*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2014.00026.
- Charalambous, M., Kountouris, A., Phylactou, P., Annoni, J.M. and Kambanaros, M., 2022. *Patient and Public Involvement in Stroke and Aphasia Research: a Thematic Analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 103(12), p.e143. https://www.archivespmr.org/article/S0003-9993(22)01405-8/fulltext.
- Clevenot, L.., Carré, C., & Pech, P. (2018). A Review of the Factors That Determine Whether Stormwater Ponds Are Ecological Traps and/or High-Quality Breeding Sites for Amphibians. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 6, 40.* https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2018.00040.
- Conrad, C. C., & Hilchey, K. G. (2011). A review of citizen science and community-based environmental monitoring: issues and opportunities. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 176, 273–291*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1582-5.
- Daniel, P. S., & Sam, A. G. (2011). *Research Methodology*. New Delhi: Gyan Publishing House.
- Donati, G. F. A., et al. (2022). Reconciling cities with nature: Identifying local Blue-Green Infrastructure interventions for regional biodiversity enhancement. *Land Use Policy.* 316. 115254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.115254.
- Esmail, B.A., Cortinovis, C., Suleiman, L., Albert, C., Geneletti, D. and Mörtberg, U., 2022. Greening cities through urban planning: A literature review on the uptake of concepts and methods in Stockholm. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, p.127584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2022.127584.

- European Commission (2013). *Green Infrastructure Enhancing Europe's Natural Capital. COM (2013) 249 final. Brussels: European Commission*. https://eurlex.europa.eu/resource.html?format=PDF&uri=cellar%3Ad41348f2-01d5-4abe-b817-4c73e6f1b2df.0014.03%2FDOC_1.
- European Commission (2020). *EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030: Bringing nature back into our lives*. Brussels. https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/nature-and-biodiversity/green-infrastructure en.
- Flanagan, K., Blecken, G.-T., Österlund, H., Nordqvist, K., and Viklander, M. (2021). Contamination of Urban Stormwater Sediments: A Study of 259 Legacy and Contemporary Organic Substances. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *55(4)*, 2300–2309. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.0c07782.
- Fletcher, T. D., Shuster, W., Hunt, W. F., et al. (2015). SUDS, LID, BMPs, WSUD and more The evolution and application of terminology surrounding urban drainage. *Urban Water Journal*, *12*(7), *525–542*. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062X.2014.916314.
- Freshwater Habitats Trust, n.d., *Habitats: Ponds*. https://freshwaterhabitats.org.uk/habitats/ponds/)
- Gallagher et al. (2011). Watershed-Scale Analysis of Pollutant Distributions in Stormwater Management Ponds. Urban Ecosyst **14**, 469–484 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-011-0162-y.
- Gebreselassie, S. S., et al. (2022). A review of current knowledge and research priorities for urban ponds. *Freshwater Biology*. 67(10), 1671-1689 https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13981.
- Grinyer, A., 2009. The ethics of the secondary analysis and further use of qualitative data. *Social Research Update*, 56(4), pp.1-4. http://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU56.pdf.
- Higgins, S.L., Thomas, F., Goldsmith, B., Brooks, S.J., Hassall, C., Harlow, J., Stone, D., Völker, S. and White, P., 2019. Urban freshwaters, biodiversity, and human health and well-being: Setting an interdisciplinary research agenda. *Water*, 6(2), p.e1339. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1339.
- Hamer, A. J. & Parris, K. M. (2011). Local and landscape determinants of amphibian communities in urban ponds. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. 21 (2), 378-390. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-0390.1.
- Hassall, C. and Anderson, S. (2015). Stormwater ponds can contain comparable biodiversity to unmanaged wetlands in urban areas. *Hydrobiologia*, 745(1), 137–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-2100-5.
- Hamel, P. and Tan, L. (2021). Blue—Green Infrastructure for Flood and Water Quality Management in Southeast Asia: Evidence and Knowledge Gaps. *Environmental Management*, 68(4), 699–718. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-021-01467-w.
- Havel, J.E., Kovalenko, K.E., Thomaz, S.M., Amalfitano, S. and Kats, L.B. (2015). Aquatic invasive species: challenges for the future. *Hydrobiologia*, 740(1), 147–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-2166-0.

- Heal, K.V., Hepburn, D.A. and Lunn, R.J. (2006). Sediment management in sustainable urban drainage systems. *Water Science and Technology*, 54(6–7), 219–227. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2006.315.
- Hill, M.J., Biggs, J., Thornhill, I., Briers, R.A., Gledhill, D.G., White, J.C., Wood, P.J. and Hassall, C. (2016). Urban ponds as an aquatic biodiversity resource in modified landscapes. *Global Change Biology*, 22(10), 324–337. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13401.
- Hill, M.J., Hassall, C., Oertli, B., Fahrig, L., Robson, B.J., Biggs, J., Samways, M.J., Usio, N., Takamura, N., Krishnamyswamy, J. and Wood, P.J. (2018). New policy directions for global pond conservation. *Conservation Letters*, 11(5), e12447. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12447.
- Interstate Technology and Regulatory Council (ITRC) (2009). *Phytotechnology Technical and Regulatory Guidance and Decision Trees, Revised.* https://itrcweb.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/PHYTO-3.pdf.
- Krivtsov, V., Forbes, H., Birkinshaw, S., Olive, V., Chamberlain, D., Buckman, J., Yahr, R., Arthur, S., Christie, D., Monteiro, Y. and Diekonigin, C., 2022. Ecosystem services provided by urban ponds and green spaces: a detailed study of a seminatural site with global importance for research. *Blue-Green Systems*, 4(1), pp.1-23. http://iwaponline.com/bgs/article-pdf/4/1/1/1046452/bgs0040001.pdf.
- Kuitert, L., & van Buuren, A. (2022). Delivering Blue–Green Infrastructure: Innovation Pathways for Integrating Multiple Values. *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, 4, 885951. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsc.2022.885951.
- Lambert, M.R. and Donihue, C.M., 2020. Urban biodiversity management using evolutionary tools. Nature *Ecology & Evolution*, 4(7), pp.903-910. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41559-020-1193-7.
- Li, Z., Ma, L., Gou, D., Hong, Q., Fai, L. and Xiong, B., 2022. The Impact of Urban Development on Wetland Conservation. *Sustainability*, 14(21), p.13747. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142113747.
- Márton, Z., Barta, B., Vad, C.F., Szabó, B., Hamer, A.J., Kardos, V., Laskai, C., Fierpasz, Á., Horváth, Z. (2025). Effects of urbanisation, habitat characteristics, and management on garden pond biodiversity: Findings from a large-scale citizen science survey. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 257, 104025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2025.105299.
- Marques, P. and Mandrak, N.E. (2024). Ecosystem functions in urban stormwater management ponds: A scoping review. *Sustainability*, *16(17)*, *7766*. https://doi.org/10.3390/su16177766.
- Oertli, B. (2018). Editorial: Freshwater biodiversity conservation: The role of artificial ponds in the 21st century. *Biological Conservation*, 221, 220–230. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2902.
- Oertli, B. & Parris, K. M. (2019). Toward management of urban ponds for freshwater biodiversity. *Ecosphere*, 10(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2810.
- Pandey, S.K., Upadhyay, R.K., Gupta, V., Worku, K. and Lamba, D. (2019).

 Phytoremediation potential of macrophytes of urban waterbodies in Central

- India. *Journal of Health and Pollution, 9(24), 191–206.* https://doi.org/10.5696/2156-9614-9.24.191206.
- Persson, J., 2012. Urban lakes and ponds. *Encyclopedia of earth sciences*, pp.836-839. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-4410-6_15.
- Petrova, S., Nikolov, B., Velcheva, I. et al. (2022). Buffer Green Patches around Urban Road Network as a Tool for Sustainable Soil Management. *Ecologia Balkanica*, 14(2), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/land11030343.
- Price, R.K., 2011. *Urban hydroinformatics: data, models, and decision support for integrated urban water management.* IWA publishing.
- Ramaiah, M. and Avtar, R., 2019. Urban green spaces and their need in cities of rapidly urbanizing India: A review. *Urban science*, *3*(3), p.94. https://doi.org/10.3390/urbansci3030094.
- Schmadel, N.M., Harvey, J.W., Schwarz, G.E., Alexander, R.B., Gomez-Velez, J.D., Scott, D. and Ator, S.W., (2019). Small ponds in headwater catchments are a dominant influence on regional nutrient and sediment budgets. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 46(16), pp.9669-9677. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL083937.
- Skovira, L. M., & Bohlen, P. J. (2023). Water quality, vegetation, and management of stormwater ponds draining three distinct urban land uses in central Florida. *Urban Ecosystems*. 26, 867–879, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-023-01335-x.
- Song, Y., Song, X. and Shao, G., 2020. Effects of Green Space Patterns on Urban Thermal Environment at Multiple Spatial—Temporal Scales. *Sustainability*, 12(17),.6850. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12176850.
- Spotswood, E. N., et al. (2021). The biological deserts fallacy: Cities in their landscapes contribute more than we think to regional biodiversity. *BioScience*, 71(2), 148–160. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biaa155.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2011). *Stormwater Best Management Practices: Wet Ponds*. https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/wetpondsmanual.pdf.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2021). *Best Management Practices* (BMP): Wet Ponds. EPA Office of Water, Washington, DC. https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-11/bmp-wet-ponds.pdf.
- Villasenor, N.R., Driscoll, D.A., Gibbons, P., Calhoun, A.J. and Lindenmayer, D.B., 2017. The relative importance of aquatic and terrestrial variables for frogs in an urbanizing landscape: Key insights for sustainable urban development. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 157, pp.26-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.06.006.
- Wang, B., Wang, Y., Wang, W. (2014). Retention and mitigation of metals in sediment, soil, water, and plant of a newly constructed root-channel wetland (China) from slightly polluted source water. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 21, 7331–7342. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-3-326.
- Wihlborg, M., Sörensen, J., & Alkan Olsson, J. (2019). Assessment of barriers and drivers for implementation of blue–green solutions in Swedish municipalities.

- Journal of Environmental Management, 233, 706–718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.12.018.
- Williams, C.J., Frost, P.C. and Xenopoulos, M.A., 2013. Beyond best management practices: pelagic biogeochemical dynamics in urban stormwater ponds. *Ecological Applications*, 23(6), pp.1384-1395. https://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1890/12-0825.1.
- Worcester (2024). The City of Worcester's official Bell Pond Water Quality Report provides recent monitoring data, invasive species activity, and management summaries for urban ponds in Worcester:

 https://www.worcesterma.gov/sustainability-resilience/document-center/water-quality-report-2024-bell-pond.pdf
- Yazdi, M.N., Scott, D., Sample, D.J., Wang, X. (2021). Efficacy of a retention pond in treating stormwater nutrients and sediment. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 290, 125787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.125787
- Zhang, W., et al. (2021). Assessment on the cumulative effect of pollutants and the evolution of micro-ecosystems in bioretention systems with different media. 228, 112957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112957.
- Zuniga-Palacios, J., Zuria, I., Castellanos, I., Lara, C. and Sanchez-Rojas, G., 2021. What do we know (and need to know) about the role of urban habitats as ecological traps? Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Science of the Total Environment*, 780, p.146559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146559.

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318.

XYES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance
with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.
\square NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will stil

be archived, and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.